
1 

 

STATE OF ILLINOIS 

ILLINOIS COMMERCE COMMISSION 

Illinois Commerce Commission    )   
On Its Own Motion      ) 
 -vs-       )  
The Peoples Light Gas and Coke   ) 
Company      )  
       )  Docket No. 10-0716  
Citation for alleged violations of   )  
federal rules incorporated by the   ) 
Illinois Commerce Commission   )  
regarding testing      )  
 

 NOW COMES the Staff of the Illinois Commerce Commission, by and through its 

undersigned attorneys, and in response to the Peoples Light Gas and Coke Company’s 

Motion for Partial Summary Judgment, states as follows: 

1. On March 3, 2010, a Peoples Gas Light and Coke Company (hereafter 

“Peoples”) employee was killed and another injured in the course of pressure testing a 

20” diameter steel pipe which had been taken out of service for that purpose.  Staff 

Report at 1. The pipe contained an undocumented, unmapped mechanical fitting, the 

existence of which was unknown to the Peoples employees, and indeed identified on 

any construction record readily available to the Peoples engineering department. Id. at 

1, 3 and n.1. The fitting had not been exposed by excavation. Id. at 1. The Peoples 

employees attached fittings to the 20” pipe for the purpose of pressurizing the pipe with 

compressed air, and then proceeded to pressurize the pipe to 100 psig. Id.  

2. At this point, the pipe separated at the point of the heretofore 

undiscovered mechanical fitting. Staff Report at 1. The pipe was launched by the 

pressurized air approximately 3 feet, and struck an 8” pipe. Id. The rapid release of 

pressurized air caused the pipe to strike one Peoples employee, and to strike a piece of 
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timber shoring up the excavation. Id. at 1-2. This shoring struck and killed another 

Peoples employee. Id. at 2.   

3. The Staff thereafter conducted an investigation of the incident, 

summarized in its Staff Report dated November 10, 2010.  See, generally, Staff Report. 

Staff’s investigation revealed that the accident was due to Peoples’ failure to install 

adequate blocking and bracing before pressure testing the pipe, as required by federal 

regulations and by Peoples’ own procedures. Id. at 2. Based upon its investigation, Staff 

recommended that the Commission initiate a citation proceeding to determine whether 

the March 3, 2010 incident constitutes a failure by Peoples to comply with 49 CFR 

§§192.13(c) and 192.515(a) as adopted by the Commission pursuant to Section 3 of the 

Illinois Gas Pipeline Safety Act and rules of the Commission adopted under the Act.  

Staff Report at 5. 

4. On December 15, 2010, the Commission entered an order initiating this 

proceeding, and incorporating the Staff Report by reference.  Initiating Order at 2-3.   

5. On January 13, 2011, the matter was heard for status before a duly-

appointed Administrative Law Judge (hereafter “ALJ”). Tr. at 1-7. At that hearing, 

Peoples asserted generally that it was entitled to summary judgment as to Staff’s 

assertion that it violated 49 CFR §192.515(a).  See Tr. at 4.  

6. On February 3, 2011, Peoples filed its Motion for Partial Summary 

Judgment.  See, generally, Motion.  In its Motion, Peoples asserts that it did not, as a 

matter of law, violate 49 CFR §192.515(a), because, in Peoples’ view, that 

administrative code section does not apply to so-called “uprating” procedures.  Motion, 

¶¶8-9. Peoples argues that the incident in question involved such an uprating 
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procedure. Id., ¶12.  Peoples further argues that Section 192.515(a) applies exclusively 

to testing, which Peoples employees were not engaged in at the time of the accident. 

Id., ¶¶12, 13, 14.  Peoples therefore contends that it is entitled to summary judgment. 

Id., ¶14. 

7. Peoples’ arguments should be rejected for the reasons set forth below.  

8. Summary judgment is a drastic means of resolving contested matters. 

Bagent v. Blessing Care Corp., 224 Ill. 2d 154, 163; 862 N.E.2d 985 (2007). It should be 

granted only when the right of the moving party is clear and free from doubt, Bagent, 

224 Ill. 2d at 163, and where the case hinges on a question of law. Lily Lake Road 

Defenders v. McHenry County, 156 Ill. 2d 1, 8; 619 N.E.2d 137 (1993). In deciding a 

motion for summary judgment, a court or tribunal: “must exercise extraordinary diligence 

in reviewing the record so as not to preempt a party’s right to fully present the factual 

basis for its claim.” Northern Illinois Emergency Physicians v. Landau, et al., 216 Ill. 2d 

294, 305-06; 837 N.E.2d 99 (2005). Further, the court or tribunal must view the record in 

the light most favorable to the non-moving party. Northern Illinois Emergency 

Physicians, 216 Ill. 2d at 305.  

9. Peoples is not clearly entitled to summary judgment as a matter of law, 

and so its motion must fail.  

10. Central to Peoples’ argument is its contention that “uprating” the main in 

question – or indeed any main - is a discrete activity to which no federal pipeline safety 

regulations other than those applicable to “uprating” apply.  This is simply not the case.  

11. First, it is vital not to lose sight of the fact that the regulations in question 

here are safety regulations, specifically: “minimum safety requirements for pipeline 
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facilities and the transportation of gas[.]” 49 CFR §192.1(a) (emphasis added). The 

regulations in question were promulgated under the authority of federal pipeline safety 

laws, see 49 USCS §60101, et seq., which provide in relevant part that: “[t]he purpose 

of this chapter is to provide adequate protection against risks to life and property posed 

by pipeline transportation and pipeline facilities …[.]”  49 USCS §60102(a)(1) (emphasis 

added).  In Illinois, the rule is that statutes of this nature, clearly intended to promote the 

public safety, are subject to liberal construction.  Kreke v. Caldwell Engineering Co., 105 

Ill. App. 3d 213, 223 (4th Dist. 1982).  Federal courts have adopted a similar rule of 

construction.  See, e.g., Donovan v. Peter Zimmer America, Inc., 557 F. Supp. 642 

(D.S.C. 1982). Accordingly, the regulations should be construed liberally. 

12. Testing, as described in Subpart J: “prescribes minimum leak-test and 

strength-test requirements for pipelines.” 49 CFR §192.501.  Section 192.515(c), which 

Peoples suggests does not apply here, provides in relevant part that: 

No person may operate a new segment of pipeline, or return to service a 
segment of pipeline that has been relocated or replaced, until … [i]t has 
been tested in accordance with this subpart and §192.619 to substantiate 
the maximum allowable operating pressure; and …[e]ach potentially 
hazardous leak has been located and eliminated.  49 CFR §192.515(c) 

13. Peoples, however, sees fit to take a hyper-legalistic view of these safety 

rules – notwithstanding the fact that the rules are intended to protect its employees and 

its customers. Peoples argues that, while it freely admits its employees were 

“perform[ing] a pressure test” on the main at the time of the accident, this was 

nonetheless not “testing” within the meaning of Subpart J. Clearly, Peoples’ 

extraordinarily narrow construction of the regulations is inconsistent with the intended 

purposes of the rules – to promote public safety.  
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14. Second, as Peoples concedes, its employees were, immediately prior to 

the accident, “perform[ing] a pressure test while uprating a segment of main[.]” Motion, 

¶12. Its contention must therefore be that pressure tests conducted in the course of 

uprating mains are somehow subject to different, and apparently less stringent, safety 

and environmental requirements than all other pressure tests.  

15. The text of the rule, however, simply does not bear this out.  No other 

portion of the rule sets safety standards for pressure testing of mains.  See 49 CFR 

§192.1, et seq. (No other Section of Part 192 applies to pressure testing). 

16. Thus, regardless of how Peoples chooses to characterize its activities at 

the specific moment the accident occurred, it was not then engaged in uprating a main; 

rather, it was pressure testing the pipe, presumably in anticipation of uprating the main.  

17. Taking, as one must for purposes of summary judgment, the Staff Report 

as true and correct in all of its factual particulars, the facts are that the: “steel main [in 

question] … had been taken out of service for uprating from low to medium pressure[.]” 

Staff Report at 1.  The Peoples crew: “entered the trench where the main was exposed 

and prepared to be pressure tested[,] ... [and] attached fittings to the end of the exposed 

weld end cap to allow compressed air to enter the … pipe.” Id.  (emphasis added). 

Thereafter, the pipe was: “pressurized until 100 psig was indicated on the test gauge.” 

Id.  Significantly, it is undisputed that the main in question was “taken out of service”, 

and the “pressurized [to] 100 psig” with “compressed air”.  

18. As noted, the section of pipe in question had been “taken out of service” – 

in other words, isolated from the source of natural gas.  This alone demonstrates that 

Peoples was testing rather than uprating the pipe.  Section 192.551 of the federal rules 
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describes uprating as “increasing maximum allowable operating pressures for 

pipelines[.]” 49 CFR §192.551 (emphasis added).  This process is achieved in most 

cases by “increase[ing] …operating pressure … in increments[.]” 49 CFR §192.553(a).  

19. Thus, uprating clearly involves increasing the gas – i.e., operating - 

pressure in the system after completing certain steps.  Testing in contrast may be done 

with compressed air, 49 CFR §192.503(b), which Peoples was using at the time of the 

accident. 

20. Uprating under Subpart K is divided into two categories: uprating to a 

pressure that will produce a hoop stress of 30% or more of specified maximum yield 

strength1 (hereafter “SMYS”), see 49 CFR §192.555; or alternatively less than 30% of 

SMYS. See 49 CFR §192.557.2  In both cases, however, uprating is a process that 

involves taking certain design and maintenance measures, none of which specifically 

include testing within the meaning of Subpart J, see 49 CFR §§192.555(b)(1)-(2), 

192.557(b)(1)-(6), and then increasing operating pressure in the pipeline. 49 CFR 

§§192.555(c), 192.557(c).  

21. Finally, Section 192.619 provides in relevant part that: 

(a) No person may operate a segment of steel or plastic pipeline at a 
pressure that exceeds a maximum allowable operating pressure 
determined under paragraph (c) or (d) of this section, or the lowest 
of the following: 

… 

                                                           
1
  SMYS refers to the ability of pipe to withstand internal pressure, measured in pounds per square 

inch. 49 CFR §§192.3, 102.105, 192.107.  

2
  The Staff believes that Peoples intended to uprate the pipeline to less than 39% of SMYS as 

described in 49 CFR §192.557, but it is irrelevant for purposes of this Response.  
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(2) The pressure obtained by dividing the pressure to which the 
segment was tested after construction as [further set fort in the 
rule.] 

49 CFR 192.619(a)(2)  

22. This, in fact, appears to be the section ultimately applicable to the 

pressure testing in question.  

23. Peoples has not made a case for summary judgment, or indeed come 

remotely close to doing so. There is at the very least a question of material fact as to 

whether Peoples was engaged in “testing” within the meaning of Subpart J. In fact, Staff 

believes that it has demonstrated that Peoples was engaged in that activity.  

24. In any case, Peoples’ Motion should be denied. The motion improperly 

seeks to narrowly construe rules intended to the public safety, and it improperly seeks 

to have its activities narrowly categorized as uprating, when they were clearly testing 

even under a more technical construction of the rules.  
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WHEREFORE, for all of the reasons stated above, Staff respectfully requests 

that the Administrative Law Judge deny Peoples Gas Light and Coke Company’s 

Motion for Summary Judgment.          

      Respectfully submitted, 

      ___________________________ 

February 24, 2011 Matthew L. Harvey 
 
Office of General Counsel 
Illinois Commerce Commission 
160 North LaSalle St., Ste. C-800 
Chicago, IL  60601 
Phone:  (312) 793-2877 
Fax:  (312) 793-1556 
mharvey@icc.illinois.gov 
 
 

 


